ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Charleston County

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

AUG 24 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KENDALL JEROME TYUS, JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001739  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in permitting a civilian crime scene technician testify regarding her analysis of fingerprints where the state failed to establish the reliability of the science employed by the technician in arriving at her opinions?
  
- II. Did the trial judge err in qualifying a civilian crime scene technician as an expert in fingerprint analysis where the technician lacked requisite knowledge, skill, experience, training, and education to analyze fingerprints and form an opinion?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 5, 2013, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for armed robbery (2013-GS-10-1496) and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2013-GS-10-1497). R. 406-407; R. 409-410. The state, represented by Chris Lietzow and Ben Lewis, called the case for trial before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson and a jury on July 13-15, 2015. R. 1-2. Lorelle Proctor and Tamara Van Pala represented Appellant. R. 2. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 342, line 17 – R. 343, line 1. Judge Jefferson sentenced Appellant to thirteen years' imprisonment for armed robbery and to five years' imprisonment for the weapon. She ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 361, line 22 – R. 362, line 7; R. 408; R. 411.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 22, 2012, the Under the Sea Restaurant in North Charleston was robbed around 7:30 p.m., shortly before closing. R. 86, lines 5-16; R. 88, line 19 – R. 89, line 1. There were only two people in the restaurant at the time – the owners, Sunny and Hannah Lee. R. 86, lines 9-19; R. 87, lines 12-16; R. 107, lines 18-21. Sunny was cleaning in the back of the restaurant when the robbery occurred. R. 86, lines 9-19; R. 89, lines 2-4. Hannah was at the front of the restaurant by the register. R. 86, lines 18-19. As soon as the robber entered the restaurant, Hannah ran to the back to find Sunny. R. 86, lines 17-22; R. 89, lines 5-9. Sunny never saw the robber in the restaurant. R. 89, lines 10-14.

Hannah and Sunny ran out of the back door and around the strip mall where the restaurant was located. R. 89, lines 15-18; R. 90, lines 6-17; R. 102, lines 6-18. Sunny claimed that while on the side of the building, the pair ran into the robber, whose face was uncovered. R. 90, lines 6-17; R. 91, lines 18 – R. 92, line 3; R. 102, line 21 – R. 103, line 16; R. 103, lines 20-22.<sup>1</sup> Sunny did not see a gun, but claimed he saw the register tray at his side. R. 90, lines 21-25; R. 103, lines 17-19. When Sunny and Hannah returned to the restaurant, one of them called 911. R. 92, lines 15-18.

The police arrived quickly and began searching the area. R. 107, line 19 – R. 108, line 17. One of the officers found a money tray from a cash register within 125 feet of the front door of the restaurant, in front of an antique store in the same strip mall. R. 109, lines 17-25; R. 115, lines 5-11. Sunny identified the money tray as belonging in his restaurant's register. R. 101, lines 4-13. However, Sunny claimed he and his wife did not see the register tray sitting in front of the antique store when they ran in front of the building to

---

<sup>1</sup> Sunny did not identify Appellant as the robber. Hannah did not testify.

return to the restaurant. R.104, lines 14-17. Alongside the register tray, the police also found a blue bandana or handkerchief. R. 109, lines 22-25; R. 116, line 21 – R. 117, line 3.

Lisa Kubicsko, a civilian crime scene technician with the North Charleston Police Department, processed the scene. R. 120, lines 3-6; R. 160, lines 8-12. Kubicsko collected numerous fingerprints, including from the interior of the front door, the base of the cash register, and the cash register tray. R. 166, line 14 – R. 167, line 11; R. 168, line 8 – R. 170, line 8; R. 175, lines 14-24. Oddly, Kubicsko took photographs of the prints where she recovered them for the countertop, register, and interior door, but took no photographs of the prints she recovered from the cash register tray, which were the only prints identified to Appellant. R. 260, line 22 – R. 261, line 18; R. 263, lines 5-7; R. 263, lines 15-18. As a result, she was unable to say exactly *where* those prints were on the cash register tray. R. 262, line 24 – R. 263, line 4; R. 264, lines 3-7. Adding another oddity to the fingerprint collection and examination was the fact that Kubicsko numbered the lift cards with Arabic numerals, except for the lift card from the cash register tray, which, again, were the only prints identified to Appellant. R. 263, lines 9-14; R. 263, lines 19-24. When Kubicsko collected the cash registry tray, she found cash and coins in the tray. R. 171, lines 8-13; R. 257, lines 5-7. After processing the tray, she returned it to the restaurant owners. R. 171, lines 21-22.

Additionally, Kubicsko swabbed the door, counter, register, and money tray for DNA. R. 176, line 8 – R. 177, line 16; R. 265, line 4 – R. 266, line 15. Finally, Kubicsko collected surveillance video from the restaurant capturing the robbery and the bandana found near the cash tray. R. 176, lines 2-4; State's Exhibit #1. The video showed a black male armed with what appeared to be a gun enter the store and take the cash register tray.

State's Exhibit #1. The identity of the robber was impossible to determine from the video because the robber's face is covered by a towel or shirt. State's Exhibit #1.

When Kubicsko returned to her office, she selected a latent fingerprint for entry into the Automated Fingerprint Identification System (AFIS). R. 177, line 17 – R. 179, line 18. Her first search yielded no respondents. R. 180, lines 18-20. She widened her search to include finger numbers nine and three and set the database parameters to return ten respondents. R. 181, lines 2-10. She received ten respondents, which were ranked from first to tenth based on a score created by the database. R. 181, lines 7-17. Kubicsko then compared the first respondent print with the latent print. R. 181, lines 17-22. Kubicsko opined the first respondent print and the latent print were a match. R. 183, lines 8-24. She claimed *complete certainty* in her examination. R. 181, lines 20-22. According to the database, the respondent fingerprint belonged to Appellant. R. 183, line 24 – R. 184, line 4.

After Kubicsko notified the police of the fingerprint "match," the police obtained a warrant for Appellant's arrest. R. 184, lines 9-19. Additionally, the police obtained a search warrant for Appellant's home. R. 184, lines 21-23. Kubicsko participated in execution of the search warrant as well. R. 184, lines 21-23; R. 185, lines 6-14. At Appellant's home, the police found money, including cash and coins, nine live rounds, white sneakers, a jacket with a white stripe, and a gun. R. 218, line 3 – R. 230, line 18; R. 238, line 4 – R. 242, line 12. The prosecutor argued the jacket, sneakers, and gun were not only similar, but were the ones worn and used by the robber as seen in the video. R. 303, line 18 – R. 308, lines 10.

Subsequent to Appellant's arrest, Kubicsko analyzed the remaining latent prints recovered from the restaurant. R. 185, line 15 – R. 186, line 15; R. 196, line 23 – R. 197, line 1. She opined that prints labeled L1.1, L1.2, L1.3, and L1.4, which were from the cash

registry tray discovered outside the restaurant, were a simultaneous impression. R. 186, lines 3-15; R. 197, lines 6-14; R. 264, lines 10-13. Therefore, she compared those latent prints with the corresponding fingers on Appellant's ten-print card. R. 186, line 3 – R. 187, line 11. Kubicsko told the jury she identified all four to Appellant. R. 186, lines 3-15. Further, she claimed that she identified L1.5, which was another latent print lifted from the register tray, but not part of the simultaneous impression, to Appellant's left index finger. R. 202, lines 10-20.

Kubicsko recovered five latent prints from the interior side of the front door of the restaurant. Of those, she excluded Appellant as the person who left one print, and the others were insufficient for identification. R. 205, line 24 – R. 206, line 25. A print from the bottom of the cash register base was insufficient for identification, and two prints from the cash register tray were inconclusive. R. 206, lines 3-17. Her work was verified by Al Hallman, who agreed with her assessment. R. 208, lines 8-17. Despite this review and verification process, neither Kubicsko nor Hallman caught the "typographical error" in her report. R. 208, line 18. The report indicated she identified certain latent prints to Appellant's prints, but did so in a way that confused the latent prints and the fingers to which they allegedly matched. This was a "copy and paste typo" according to Kubicsko. R. 208, line 18 – R. 210, line 20. As a result of the error, which was discovered by the prosecutor, Kubicsko amended her report. R. 208, line 18 – R. 209, line 2; R. 210, line 21 – R. 211, line 18.

The totality of the evidence against Appellant was the fingerprint evidence as testified to by Kubicsko, the civilian crime scene technician. Although the police found a jacket, sneakers, and a gun in Appellant's home, which the prosecutor claimed matched

those in the video, that evidence alone was insufficient on which to base a guilty verdict. Certainly, the money found in Appellant's home was insufficient to base a guilty verdict. Furthermore, the arrest and search of Appellant's home was the direct result of the technician's claim to police that she had matched Appellant's fingerprint to the latent print recovered from the cash register tray. Thus, exclusion of the fingerprint would necessitate exclusion of the evidence uncovered as a result of the search of Appellant's home.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in permitting a civilian crime scene technician testify regarding her analysis of fingerprints where the state failed to establish the reliability of the science employed by the technician in arriving at her opinions.

### **Relevant facts**

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a motion to suppress the fingerprint evidence. R. 3, line 20; R. 4, lines 10-16; R. 363-405. The judge indicated she would hear the motion prior to the witness testifying. R. 4, lines 20-22; R. 9, lines 17-21; R. 23, lines 3-6. Although the judge had heard no evidence concerning the reliability of the science on which the state's proposed witness had employed, the judge remarked, "I think we know that fingerprint evidence is reliable." R. 9, line 24 – R. 10, line 1. Appellant acknowledged that fingerprint evidence is "generally accepted," but noted the test for the admissibility of expert testimony had changed to require more than mere "general acceptance." R. 10, lines 4-8. The judge remarked again, "I think fingerprint evidence is more than reliable. I think it's more than accepted generally in our courts." R. 10, lines 9-11. Later, the judge stated, "the issues of whether the science was reliable and whether it meets the scientific standard, I think those are all forgone issues. The United States Supreme Court's already addressed all of those issues routinely around the United States." R. 51, lines 3-7

While ruling on Appellant's motion to suppress based on a false statement contained in the search warrant, the trial judge revealed her misunderstanding of how fingerprint examinations, including submission of a fingerprint into AFIS, work. Although the technician testified that she had visually compared the prints, the judge based her ruling in part on what she considered the *objectivity* of the fingerprint comparison process.

Specifically, the judge explained, “It would be different if she had to evaluate these prints, if she had to read them, if she had to make the subjective analysis regarding whether it was his print or not, but AFIS is automated. AFIS doesn’t reward or punish anybody.” R. 49, lines 14-19. The judge reiterated her belief in the “totally objective process” of fingerprint examination: “It’s not a situation where she lifted a print and she went through a bunch of cards and said, I compared the ridge details and patterns and, blah, blah, blah, and I think it’s him. She ran it through AFIS, a totally objective process that flags those whose prints are in the system and whose DNA is in the system.” R. 60, lines 19-25.

The state presented very little concerning the “science” employed by the technician in arriving at her conclusions. Kubicko mentioned she “took the complex latent print coursework through Ron Smith and Associates” in December of 2012, which was after she conducted the examination of the prints at issue in Appellant’s case. R. 128, lines 1-5. According to the technician, Ron Smith and Associates “conduct themselves by a standard that’s regularly accepted in the latent examination community.” R. 128, lines 10-12. Kubicko indicated she had attended two continuing education courses sponsored by the creator of the system used by North Charleston. R. 128, line 24 – R. 129, line 5. At the course, the creator went “over the best practices for entering fingerprints and palm prints.” R. 129, lines 6-7. Additionally, the state presented evidence that Kubicko was a member of the International Association of Identification, the governing body “for discussing the standards and procedures” for fingerprints. R. 130, lines 17-24. She indicated that she “adhered to that and follow[ed] their principles, their advice on conducting latent examinations.” R. 130, line 25 – R. 131, line 3; R. 148, line 25 – R. 149, line 1.

When Appellant objected that the state had failed to present evidence of quality control procedures used to ensure reliability, the judge interjected that such evidence did not “go to her being an expert.” R. 132, lines 3-10. Rather, the evidence Appellant sought went to “procedures” and “standards,” which the judge stated were “nationwide.” R. 132, lines 10-12. According to the judge, the “fingerprint standard” had no variance, and examiners “always use the same standard.” R. 132, lines 12-13. The judge ruled, “I don’t think there’s any question about the science, so that’s a nonissue as far as I’m concerned, unless she’s using a different standard. They all use the same standard, and to some extent, it’s objective.” R. 132, lines 13-18. Judge Jefferson claimed no fingerprint examiner could testify with “100 percent certainty about any print” because “[i]t all depends on ridges and on the other stuff that they have to rely on.” R. 132, lines 19-22.<sup>2</sup> According to the judge, “quality control ha[d] no bearing on whether she is an expert or not.” R. 132, lines 22-23.

In response, Appellant made clear she was “arguing the Jones<sup>3</sup> factors.” R. 132, lines 24-25. When Appellant argued the state had failed to satisfy the facts referenced in Jones, the court responded that Jones was “not the issue here” because “[t]here [was] no issue regarding the reliability of the science.” R. 140, lines 5-10. According to the judge, “there [was] no mystery to [the] science” of “[h]ow fingerprints are examine, how they are evaluated, how latent prints are taken.” R. 141, lines 1-3. She opined, “It’s the same

---

<sup>2</sup> Kubicsko would testify that she was “100 percent certain” of her identification. R. 181, lines 20-22; R. 204, lines 5-8; R. 264, lines 8-13.

<sup>3</sup> State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 259 S.E.2d 120 (1979); State v. Jones, 383 S.C. 535, 681 S.E.2d 580 (2009).

science employed across the board by every latent print examiner in this state and every other state.” R. 141, lines 3-5.

The judge reiterated her position that “[t]here is no question regarding the science that is employed in latent fingerprint examination. It is the same that is employed by every latent print examiner.” R. 151, lines 9-13. Concerning reliability, the judge ruled that because Kubicsko “testified that her work in this case was reviewed,” the “reliability, although not quite relevant to this case, and the scientific weight, that was obviously satisfied.” R. 144, line 25 – R. 145, line 7.

Ultimately, the judge permitted the technician to testify as an expert in crime scene analysis and latent fingerprint examination over Appellant’s objection. R. 160, lines 1-5. When the technician began testifying before the jury regarding how she compared the latent print and the respondent print, Appellant objected based on Rules 702 and 705, SCRE. R. 181, lines 23-25. The judge remarked Appellant “already argued that in camera.” She overruled the objection and stated, “It’s preserved.” R. 182, lines 1-2.

### **Discussion**

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence govern the admissibility of scientific evidence. The applicable rule provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. ““All expert testimony must satisfy the Rule 702 criteria, and that includes the [circuit] court’s gatekeeping function in ensuring the proposed expert testimony meets a reliability threshold for the jury’s ultimate consideration.” State v. Cain, 413 S.C. 508,

520-521, 776 S.E.2d 374, 380 (Ct. App. 2015)(quoting State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 270, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009)).

In State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999), our Supreme Court held that “[w]hen admitting scientific evidence under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial judge must find the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.” In order to determine whether the underlying science is reliable, the trial judge must apply the four factor test announced in State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 731, 259 S.E.2d 120, 124 (1979). Id. Those factors are (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. Id., at 19, 515 S.E.2d at 517(citing Jones, 273 S.C. at 731, 259 S.E.2d at 124). Recently, the Supreme Court reiterated the Jones test for determining reliability. State v. Jones, 383 S.C. 535, 681 S.E.2d 580 (2009). The trial judge erred in admitting the testimony of Kubicsko because the underlying science is not reliable.

In Jones, 383 S.C. at 550, 681 S.E.2d at 588, the Supreme Court concluded the trial judge erred in admitting testimony that “barefoot insole impression” testimony revealed Jones’ foot to be consistent with the impression made by the wearer of steel toe boot because the “science” lacked reliability. The Court held that although research by two witnesses had been presented and published, it did not satisfy the requirement of “peer review.” Id. at 556, 681 S.E.2d at 591. The Court also concluded that the “barefoot insole impression” testing conducted in Jones’ case was the first for SLED, and the testing is no longer used by SLED or the FBI. Id. at 557, 681 S.E.2d at 591. The SLED agent testified

that SLED had no established protocol or quality control procedure in place for the testing. Thus, the Court concluded the evidence lacked quality control measures to ensure reliability. Id. Finally, the Court held the testing lacked a consistency of the methodology based upon the testimony of a statistician. The research supporting the testing was a sample of barefoot impressions of 1000 college students. The statistician testified the sample could not be applied to the general population due to the sampling. In addition, the sample involved barefoot impressions, not barefoot insole impressions and the measurements were conducted differently. Id.

In State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 388, 728 S.E.2d 468, 474-475 (2012), the South Carolina Supreme Court explained that the “expertise, reliability, and ability of the testimony to assist the trier of fact are all threshold determinations to be made prior to the admission of expert testimony, and generally, a witness’s expert status will be determined *prior* to determining the reliability of the testimony.” (emphasis in original). After a judge qualifies a witness as an expert, the judge should evaluate the substance of the witness’s testimony to determine if the testimony is reliable, as required by Rule 702, SCRE. Id. at 389, 728 S.E.2d at 475. The Court held the circuit court erred in admitting the proposed expert “before vetting it for its reliability.” Id.

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