STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001739

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

KENDALL JEROME TYUS, JR.,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUL 26 2016

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly admitted the fingerprint identification evidence implicating Appellant in the crime because fingerprint identification evidence is extremely reliable and universally accepted.

Relevant Facts

Prior to jury selection, Defense Counsel noted they had a written motion to suppress the fingerprint evidence. Tr. p. 16. Defense Counsel's written motion stated:

The fingerprint evidence should be suppressed because it lacks reliability and the Crime Scene Investigator's investigation and proffered testimony fails to meet the Daubert¹ standard for the admissibility of scientific evidence. Defendant further argues that the search warrants should be suppressed under Delaware v. Franks² because the Magistrate's finding of probable cause rests entirely on the unreliable fingerprint evidence. In the alternative, under Delaware v. Franks, the Magistrate's determination of probable cause was based on the affiant's false statements.

R. p. * (Motion to Suppress Fingerprint Evidence and Search Warrants). The trial judge later noted, "Now, I've read your motion. Some of it goes to her expertise, not to suppression." Tr. p. 50. The trial judge asked Defense Counsel, "What is your offer of proof that - - and I think we know that the fingerprint evidence is reliable. Wouldn't you say that's really a moot issue? I think the US Supreme Court has addressed that many times." Tr. pp. 50-51. Defense Counsel responded, "Yes, Your Honor. It is generally accepted so it passes the Frye Standard, F-R-Y-E, but also since the Daubert Standard, D-A-U-B-E-R-T, it's now the five point standard as the court --." Tr. p. 51. The trial judge responded, "I think fingerprint evidence is more than reliable. I think it's more than accepted generally in our courts." Tr. p. 51. Appellant continued his assertions regarding the insufficiency of the fingerprint evidence, now focusing on his argument that, pursuant to Franks v. Delaware, there was not probable cause for the search warrant of

¹ Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

² Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978).

Appellant's residence because of an alleged false statement contained in the affidavit. (Tr. p. 53).

Later, during the pre-trial hearing on Appellant's Franks v. Delaware motion, the trial judge stated:

Now, the issues of whether the science was reliable and whether it meets the scientific standard, I think those are all foregone issues. The United States Supreme Court's already addressed all of those issues routinely around the United States. Whether she can be qualified as an expert or whether she did her job thoroughly or not, all of that is fair game, but that's not the basis for whether there was a lack of probable cause in the warrant.

Tr. p. 92. During the Franks v. Delaware hearing, where Appellant alleged the search warrant was based on a false statement by Kubicsko regarding the fingerprint match, the trial judge told Defense Counsel:

What you would need to prove to me is that either she fabricated this print, she took it from somebody else's crime scene, or otherwise, to meet your burden of proof that she had a reckless disregard for the truth or it was completely false when she entered it into AFIS. It's not a situation where she lifted a print and she went through a bunch of cards and said, I compared the ridge details and patterns and, blah, blah, blah, and I think it's him. She ran it through AFIS, a totally objective process³ that flags whose prints are in the system and whose DNA is in the system. That's the whole purpose of why we have that database, to aid law enforcement.

Tr. p. 101.

At the conclusion of the suppression hearing, the trial judge found Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof and denied the motion to suppress. Tr. p. 114. The trial judge later reiterated, "There is no question regarding the science that is employed in latent print examination. It is the same that is employed by every latent print examiner and there is no

³ Appellant misrepresents this quote as evidence the trial judge believed the entire process of fingerprinting was a "totally objective process." Rather, the trial judge was discussing the AFIS database and how the database itself objectively flags fingerprints and DNA that is a match for the sample provided. The trial judge demonstrated an understanding that there were some subjective elements to fingerprint examination when discussing the use of standards by fingerprint examiners. The trial judge stated, "They all use the same standard, **and to some extent**, it's objective." Tr. p. 194. (emphasis added).

contest regarding that.” Tr. p. 213. Kubicsko was subsequently qualified as an expert in crime scene analysis and latent fingerprint examination. Tr. p. 222.

During her trial testimony, Kubicsko offered the following description of entering the first fingerprint (1.1) into AFIS:

So with 1.1, to run the fingerprint in the system what we do is the system has a camera attached which takes a picture of that fingerprint. It then brings it up and I'm able to play with the contrast, the brightness, just to make it more visible. Then I will identify certain ridge characteristics or what we call minutiae, which are ending ridges and bifurcations. Ending ridge is a ridge that will end and a bifurcation is one ridge that would turn into two ridges. So those are the two characteristics that we use in the system to mark. So I searched the system - - I marked those system and I submitted the search for that print. I marked - -for the first search that I did, I marked 26 points of minutiae. And I ran this in the database as finger number nine, which would be your left ring finger. The finger number system that we use corresponds to how ten-print cards are made. Number one is the right thumb, two, three, four, five, six, left thumb and so forth. So we use this same numbering system when we do our work. So the first search I did, I didn't get a result and that's because I ran it as finger nine - - the finger nine. So after looking at the latent print, looking at 1.1 and 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4, I see these, as a latent examiner, as a simultaneous impression, meaning that they were deposited at the same time. They appear to be in the same pattern as a normal handprint on a surface. So based on the length of those fingers, I thought it was the number nine finger. At that point I determined, you know what, maybe it is the right hand instead of the left. Let me run it as the finger nine and the number three, as the middle finger. So I ran that with 46 points of minutiae this time and I got an AFIS hit, which identified it as finger number three, the middle finger.

Tr. pp. 242-43. Kubicsko further explained the AFIS system results as:

So I set the parameters for the search to return ten respondents, ten known fingerprints that could possibly be a match. And it ranked it from number 1 to 10; 1 being scored with the best possible match. I then start with the number 1 and manually compare the latent print 1.1 to the first search response.

Tr. p. 243. Kubicsko continued:

I then, one, reported it on an AFIs worksheet that we use to keep track of how many minutiae points we searched and the search parameters and all that. I then use a different part of the system to look up that SID number to determine the name associated with it.

Tr. pp. 245-46. When asked what the basic factors that are used to identify someone a fingerprint, Kubicsko testified:

The two principles that we use that allow us to use fingerprints to identify one person and one person only is the fact that they are unique. Each person has their own fingerprints and they are persistent, meaning that they are the same throughout your life. Even if you cut through the skin deep and - - into, and that would create a scar which essentially further identifies you because now you have a scar on your finger.

Tr. pp. 257-58. She continued, "So once I got the database hit to the identification number and I looked up what name came to the identification number, I can then print their known standard, and that is what I would use to compare to the - - on the latent print." Tr. pp. 259-60. Finally, Kubicsko explained the process she followed in making a match in Appellant's case:

What I have is the latent impression 1.1 that you saw on the latent backer card and this is the inked fingerprint of the middle finger of Kendall Tyus. This is the hit that was created in the database. So the first thing I want to do when I'm comparing the unknown latent to a possible known standard is look at the general pattern. We have several pattern types: Loop, right loop, left loop, whirls and arches. So in this case I determined I have the same pattern type, same ridge flow, so then I continue to look for specific characteristics a little more closely and that's when I marked the ending ridges or bifurcations that I have found. So here I have demonstrated ten specific matching characteristics between the two. There are many more. I've just marked two clearly so that you can see, and I'm sure if you look close enough you can even see one that are not marked that would be a match. So this is the same process that I went through with each individual print that I identified. Now, in addition to identifying some, we can also exclude. We could exclude someone if the patterns are actually different, if they don't have the same characteristics in both, and if they don't have the same spatial arrangement, meaning what I do is not only do I find the corresponding detail, they need to be in the same spatial arrangement. And we find that out by counting ridges. So I will count ridges from one point to the other and make sure that they all match in both, and that's how I make the identification.

Tr. pp. 261-63. Kubicsko also noted that her initial report she completed for print 1.1 was verified by Sergeant Coker. Tr. p. 263. The report she completed for the remaining prints was verified by Al Hallman. Tr. p. 270.

Discussion

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in allowing Kubicscko to testify regarding her analysis of fingerprints because the State failed to establish the reliability of the underlying science. Specifically, Appellant asserts, “Despite the trial judge’s conclusion that fingerprint analysis is unassailable, its subjective nature leaves it quite vulnerable on multiple fronts to attack. At a minimum, the judge erred in failing to require the state to present evidence of the methodology employed by Kubicscko in conducting her analysis and the reliability of the methodology.” Br. of Appellant. p. 15. Appellant uses language from a 2009 report from the National Research Council⁴ to support his argument for the exclusion of fingerprint evidence. Contrary to Appellant’s contention, the trial judge was not required to compel the state to present evidence of the reliability of fingerprint identification because fingerprint evidence is extremely reliable and universally accepted, thus the trial judge is not required to hold a hearing on reliability in every case where fingerprint identification evidence is at issue. The use of fingerprint evidence is one of the cornerstones of the investigative process used by law enforcement throughout the country. Tellingly, Appellant is unable to cite to any case where fingerprint evidence was found unreliable. Rather, every Court that has examined the issue has quickly dismissed the notion that fingerprint evidence is scientifically unreliable.

South Carolina Rule of Evidence 702 states:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. In determining the admissibility of expert testimony, South Carolina courts make three inquiries. “First, the court must determine whether ‘the subject matter is beyond the

⁴ Committee on Identifying Needs of the Forensic Sciences Community, National Research Council, Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward (2009) (hereinafter “NRC Report”).

ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.” Graves v. CAS Medical Systems, Inc., 401 S.C. 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012) (quoting Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010)). “Second, the expert must have ‘acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter,’ although he ‘need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field.” Id. “Finally, the substance of the testimony must be reliable.” Id.

If the evidence is scientific, South Carolina courts must consider “the degree to which the trier of fact must accept, on faith, scientific hypotheses not capable of proof or disproof in court and not even generally accepted outside the courtroom.” State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 731, 259 S.E.2d 120, 124 (1979). Under the standard set forth in Jones, the trial court should consider the following factors: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 19, 515 S.E.2d 508, 517 (1999). (citing Jones, 273 S.C. at 731, 259 S.E.2d at 124). However, in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony, the factors applied in an analysis of scientific evidence cannot readily be applied. See State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 688 (2009) (“The foundational reliability requirement for expert testimony does not lend itself to a one-size-fits-all approach, for the Council factors for scientific evidence serve no useful analytical purpose when evaluating nonscientific expert testimony.”). Accordingly, no formulaic approach can or must be applied to determine reliability in cases involving nonscientific expert testimony. Id.

The trial judge was not required to hold a reliability hearing on the State’s fingerprint identification evidence due to the universal acceptance of the reliability of the evidence by courts

across the country. Holding a hearing on the reliability of the evidence would have been a waste of the Court's time and resources. In State v. Ford, 301 S.C. 485, 392 S.E.2d 781 (1990), the South Carolina Supreme Court examined the reliability of a new scientific technique known as DNA Print Identification or Restriction Fragment Link Polymorphism (RFLP). The Court ruled:

The RFLP analysis and test results would be admissible under both the Frye standard and the standard set forth in State v. Jones, *supra*. Having found that RFLP analysis involves scientific techniques which have been generally accepted by the professional community, the initial test for admissibility has been met. In future cases, a Frye type hearing will not be necessary. This initial burden has been established and DNA analysis may be admitted in judicial proceedings in this state in the same manner as other scientific evidence which is routinely used in trial court proceedings such as **fingerprint analysis** and ABO blood tests.

Id. at 490 (emphasis added). The ruling in Ford has significance in the current case for two reasons. First, the Court recognizes that a Frye type hearing is not necessary in cases where the reliability of a given science is beyond dispute. Second, the Court's inclusion of fingerprint evidence as a shining example of the type of evidence that is routinely admitted without a Frye type hearing due to its previously established reliability serves as a recognition of the fact that fingerprint evidence is reliable to the point that a hearing on the reliability of that evidence is not required.

As mentioned above, Appellant's support for his assertion that fingerprint evidence is unreliable is based on a 2009 report from the National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences entitled "Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward." In the National Research Council report, multiple fields of forensic science were studied with the intent to engage in systematic and scientific improvement within the various disciplines. Appellant's reliance on the NRC Report is misplaced for three reasons.

First, the various critiques that are highlighted in Appellant's brief go to the weight of the evidence, not to its admissibility. For example, Appellant cites language from the NRC Report

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